Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

MISSOURI BOARD OF PHARMACY,
)


)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 07-1904 PH



)

KRISTINA STARK

)



)



Respondent.
)

ORDER GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY DETERMINATION


Kristina Stark is subject to discipline because she diverted a controlled substance from her employer for her personal use, consumed the controlled substance while on duty as a pharmacist, and stole gift cards and food.
Procedure


On November 21, 2007, the Missouri Board of Pharmacy (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Stark.  We served Stark with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing on November 29, 2007, by certified mail.  On December 19, 2007, Stark filed an answer to the complaint.  On March 13, 2008, the Board filed a motion for partial summary determination.  On March 31, 2008, Stark filed a response to the motion.


Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Board establishes facts that (a) Stark does not dispute and (b) entitle the Board to a favorable decision.  The following facts are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Stark is licensed by the Board as a pharmacist.  Her license is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.
2. From February 7, 2005, to August 29, 2005, Stark was employed as a pharmacist at the Target Pharmacy (“the Pharmacy”) located at 1042 S. Kirkwood Road in Kirkwood, Missouri.
3. Stark used her position of trust and confidence at the Pharmacy to gain access to controlled substances.
4. Stark stole approximately 400 tablets
 of Hydrocodone from the Pharmacy for her personal use.  She consumed some of the drugs while on duty.  She also stole gift cards and food from the Pharmacy and the Target store with which the pharmacy was associated.
5. Hydrocodone is a Schedule III controlled substance.

6. Stark did not possess a valid prescription or order for Hydrocodone at the time that she stole them from the Pharmacy.
7. Stark’s employment at the Pharmacy was terminated on or about August 29, 2005, after Stark admitted to the thefts.
8. Following her termination from the Pharmacy, Stark attended an in​patient drug treatment program at Centerpoint in St. Louis, Missouri.  Stark also attended an outpatient treatment program at St. John’s Hospital in St. Louis, Missouri.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Stark has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 338.055:


2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

(1) Use of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person’s ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;
*   *   *


(5) Incompetence, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;
*   *   *


(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;
*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government;
*   *   *


(17) Personal use or consumption of any controlled substance unless it is prescribed, dispensed, or administered by a health care provider who is authorized by law to do so.
Use or Consumption of Controlled Substance – Subdivisions (1) and (17)

Stark admitted that she stole Hydrocodone from the Pharmacy and consumed some of it while on duty.  She admitted that while she originally had a prescription for the controlled substance, she became addicted to it and stole the drug when she did not have a prescription.  Stark is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(1) and (17).
Incompetence, Misconduct, Gross Negligence – Subdivision (5)


When referring to an occupation, incompetence relates to the failure to use “the actual ability of a person to perform in that occupation.”
  It also refers to a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.
  Misconduct is “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.
 


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.


Stark admitted that she stole approximately 400 tablets of a controlled substance and consumed some of it while on duty as a pharmacist.  She admitted that she stole gift cards and food from the Pharmacy and the Target store.  Stark committed misconduct and was dishonest.  
We do not find cause for incompetence.  The Board does not argue that she was grossly negligent or committed fraud or misrepresentation.  Stark is subject to discipline under 
§ 338.055.2(5) for misconduct and dishonesty.
Violation of Professional Trust – Subdivision (13)

Professional trust is reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.


Stark’s conduct in using her position to gain access to controlled substances for personal use violated her employer’s professional trust and confidence in her.  She is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(13).
Violation of Drug Laws – Subdivision (15)


Stark stole approximately 400 tablets of a controlled substance and consumed them.  This conduct was unlawful under § 195.180,
 which states:


1.  A person may lawfully possess or have under his control a controlled substance if such person obtained the controlled substance directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of a practitioner’s professional practice or except as otherwise authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425.
Stark’s conduct violated § 195.202.1,
 which states:  “Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.”  Stark’s conduct violated 21 U.S.C. § 844(a), which states:

(a) Unlawful acts; penalties

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained 
directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional practice[.]
Stark committed that conduct and is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(15).
Level of Discipline


Stark asks us to consider that she has completed inpatient and outpatient treatment programs and continues to attend Narcotics Anonymous and Alcohol Anonymous meetings.  She states that she is a good pharmacist and is a mother supporting two children.  This Commission determines only whether there is cause for discipline under the facts.  We have determined that there is cause for discipline based on the incidents at the Pharmacy.  There are other allegations in the complaint that Stark has not admitted to and that the Board has not proven (involving Dierberg’s Pharmacy).  The Board will have the opportunity to present evidence about these allegations at the hearing on May 12, 2008.


After a final decision by this Commission, the level of discipline is determined by the Board.  Stark will be given an opportunity to make her arguments as to the level of discipline to be imposed at a hearing before the Board.
Summary


We grant the Board’s motion for partial summary determination.  Stark is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(1), (5), (13), (15), and (17).  The Board shall inform us by May 1, 2007, whether it will proceed with the remaining allegations at the hearing scheduled on May 12, 2008.

SO ORDERED on April 25, 2008.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner
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